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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good morning.  I

          3  am Council Member Bill Perkins, the Chair of the

          4  City Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today this Committee will be

          6  conducting a hearing to discuss litigation

          7  pertaining to the dissemination of vital and perhaps

          8  life-saving information on domestic violence.

          9  Society has become more aware of the issue of

         10  domestic violence over recent years, we know that

         11  the crime of domestic violence does not discriminate

         12  on such aspects as one's race, color, creed, age,

         13  gender, sexual orientation, occupation or financial

         14  status.

         15                 To highlight this fact, I want to

         16  bring to your attention that, according to the most

         17  recent domestic violence fact sheet produced by the

         18  Mayor's Office to combat domestic violence in 2003,

         19  27% or over one-quarter of the calls answered by the

         20  City's 24-hour domestic violence hotline were made

         21  by men.

         22                 Common sense dictates that when

         23  tackling important social issues like domestic

         24  violence, it matters not how good the available

         25  services are, whether offered by the public, private
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          2  or not-for-profit sectors, if those in need are

          3  unaware of these resources and services.

          4                 Therefore, it is imperative for

          5  effective public awareness campaigns to be conducted

          6  to get the word out to the people.

          7                 I personally remember several public

          8  awareness campaigns on the subway in recent years

          9  which I have found to be highly effective and

         10  thought-provoking.

         11                 Needless to say, any additional

         12  efforts to further assist domestic violence only

         13  serves the greater good.  Int. No. 199 is designed

         14  with this in mind.

         15                 It would require the City Clerk to

         16  provide everyone who receives a marriage license or

         17  certificate for domestic partnership written

         18  information on domestic violence including, but not

         19  limited to, important phone numbers and the

         20  consequences of engaging in such violence.

         21                 While the cynical response to this is

         22  why would you wish to dampen what is supposed to be

         23  a happy occasion by immediately providing a happy

         24  couple with information on domestic violence.

         25  Though there can be something said for this,
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          2  providing information on domestic violence at an

          3  entry point is common sense preventative measure.

          4                 Additionally, in providing

          5  information pertaining to the legal consequences of

          6  engaging in such violent behavior, one would

          7  hopefully think twice before resorting to violence.

          8                 We expect to hear today from the City

          9  Clerk's Office and various advocacy groups and

         10  service providers dealing with domestic violence and

         11  other women's issues such as: Connect, Voices of

         12  Women's Organizing Projects, Sanctuary for Families

         13  and other members of the public.  These different

         14  groups will speak to various components of the issue

         15  at hand.

         16                 Before we begin the Hearing, I'd like

         17  to introduce the other members of the Committee that

         18  are here today.

         19                 On my far right, Council Member

         20  Michael Nelson; on my far left Councilwoman --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And don't you

         22  forget it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  -- And don't

         24  you forget it.-- Christine Quinn and at some point I

         25  expect that the Sponsor, Margarita Lopez, will be
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          2  joining us and would want to have a few words to

          3  say.

          4                 We also would like to acknowledge our

          5  policy analyst, Sandy Dillon, and the Counsel to the

          6  Committee for today, the last day, Russell Unger and

          7  Maria Alvarado, our Press Secretary.  Other members

          8  I assume will be here throughout the hearing.

          9                 We're going to begin with the

         10  representative of the City Clerk's Office.

         11                 Please have a seat at the witness

         12  stand, and you'll be sworn in and introduce

         13  yourself.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you

         15  please raise your right hand.  Do you swear or

         16  affirm that the testimony you're about to provide is

         17  the truth?

         18                 MR. McSWEENEY:  I do.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         20                 MR. McSWEENEY:  Good Morning,

         21  Chairman Perkins and Members of the Committee on

         22  Governmental Operations.

         23                 I am Michael McSweeney, First Deputy

         24  City Clerk of the City of New York.  I am joined by

         25  Patrick Sinmoei (phonetic), the Counsel to the City
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          2  Clerk.

          3                 I am here to testify on behalf of

          4  Victor L. Robles, City Clerk and Clerk of the

          5  Council, with respect to Int. No. 199.

          6                 The City Clerk would have been here

          7  in person but was unable to be here because of a

          8  scheduling conflict.  With the short notice he was

          9  unable to rearrange his schedule.

         10                 In addition to the City Clerk's role

         11  as an officer of this body, the City Clerk

         12  administers the City's Marriage License Bureau.  The

         13  City Clerk is authorized under New York Domestic

         14  Relations Law to issue marriage licenses and to

         15  solemnize marriages.

         16                 Another closely related

         17  responsibility comes via Title 3 of the New York

         18  Administrative Code, Section 3, 240 to 245, which

         19  mandates the City Clerk's maintenance of a domestic

         20  partnership registry.

         21                 Last year, we issued 61,793 marriage

         22  licenses and solemnized 35,059 marriages.  In 2003,

         23  we issued 61,101 marriage licenses and solemnized

         24  34,256 marriages.  It's fair to say that we issue an

         25  average of 63,000 licenses annually.  Since the
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          2  establishment of the registry, 25,310 domestic

          3  partnerships have been registered.  That's roughly

          4  an average of 2,300 per year.

          5                 The historic role of the City Clerk

          6  is to implement functions designated by the Charter

          7  and the Executive and Legislative branches of the

          8  City and State government.

          9                 You should note that with respect to

         10  the Marriage Bureau, the City Clerk's power is

         11  derived from State law, the Domestic Relations Law

         12  to be exact.  We will therefore implement Int. No.

         13  199 when it is enacted into law.

         14                 However, we respectfully question

         15  whether or not our agency is the best venue for the

         16  dissemination of this information.

         17                 While we applaud your efforts to

         18  combat the evil that is domestic violence, there are

         19  concerns over the perception that would be created

         20  by handing a newly married couple, or a newly

         21  registered domestic partnership, information about

         22  domestic violence.  It is foreseeable that such a

         23  requirement might send a message about our City that

         24  does not paint our citizens in the kindest light.

         25                 However, these concerns are based
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          2  upon a brief reflection over this legislation by the

          3  senior staff of our office. These concerns have no

          4  basis in any kind of scientific or demographic study

          5  into any type of public policy that has resulted in

          6  the reduction of domestic violence.

          7                 We are not adverse to handing out

          8  information.  In fact, we presently do so now.

          9  Pursuant to Section 46 -- I'm sorry -- pursuant to

         10  Chapter 46, Section 1057-a of the Charter of the

         11  City of New York, we distribute voter registration

         12  forms, and pursuant to Chapter 47, Section 1069 of

         13  the Charter of the City of New York, we also

         14  distribute public health information program option

         15  pamphlets.

         16                 It should be noted that in the latter

         17  instance, we are one of the many agencies who

         18  disseminate written information as opposed to Int.

         19  No. 199 in which we are the sole disseminators. Last

         20  year, we handed out over several thousand pamphlets.

         21                 In our review of this legislation, we

         22  noticed it was silent with respect to who actually

         23  produces the pamphlet and who incurs the cost of

         24  production and additional postage involved in its

         25  dissemination.  The City Clerk mails out thousands
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          2  of certificates of marriage registration to couples

          3  who do not have their marriage ceremonies in our

          4  offices.  It would be helpful to the agency if those

          5  issues are clarified.

          6                 In closing, we thank you for the

          7  opportunity to provide testimony over this

          8  legislation.  We further commend your efforts to

          9  advance policy intended to reduce and possibly one

         10  day eliminate domestic violence in all of its forms

         11  and we thank you for working to improve the quality

         12  of life for all New Yorkers.

         13                 I'd be happy to answer any questions

         14  that the Members of the Committee might have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony.  I want to acknowledge the

         17  presence of Council Member Philip Reed, a member of

         18  this Committee.

         19                 Your office seems to have some

         20  reservations with respect to the appropriateness of

         21  handing this material out.  Would you reiterate that

         22  and, particularly, you seem to think that it's the

         23  timing of it would be -- is a problem, as far as

         24  that the couple is, sort of, going through a happy

         25  moment and if that's not the right time, what would
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          2  be a better time.  You seem to think that it should

          3  be disseminated not just through -- through a more

          4  appropriate agency, and what agency or agencies do

          5  you think would be more appropriate?

          6                 MR. McSWEENEY:  I don't think there's

          7  any question that our agency would be inappropriate

          8  for the handing of the information out.  But, this

          9  bill kind of singles us out and, I guess, we would

         10  question why we would be the only agency to be

         11  required to do this.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  The singling of

         13  you out -- let me just be clear -- does that

         14  stigmatize you in any way?  Do you feel that --

         15  singling out sort of sometimes suggest a negative,

         16  so I just want to make sure.

         17                 MR. McSWEENEY:  I don't think

         18  there's-

         19                 MR. SINMOEI: No, I don't think so.  I

         20  guess there are two points.  The first point that I

         21  want to speak to is the sort of inappropriateness of

         22  it.

         23                 If you notice with the other

         24  legislation, there's some latitude whereby it is

         25  simply said that the City Clerk shall give out voter
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          2  registration forms or health pamphlets.  This one

          3  specifically says with the marriage certificate.

          4                 Now, the marriage certificate is what

          5  the couple gets and it's the ultimate proof of their

          6  marriage.  I think it would be a little

          7  disconcerting if I just got married and got my

          8  marriage certificate which is somewhat analogous to

          9  your graduation diploma.  It means you are

         10  ultimately married.  It's what you use to show

         11  people you're married and attached to it is this

         12  document.  I think the legislation might be improved

         13  by giving us some latitude in the way we hand it

         14  out.

         15                 I can't imagine we would have any

         16  sort of discomfort with having the pamphlets

         17  available to people, much the way we have the other

         18  pamphlets available.  But to have the requirement

         19  where it would be given with the marriage

         20  certificate, I think is a little little distasteful.

         21                 Now with respect to the other

         22  parties, certainly there are a number of agencies I

         23  can think of, Child Welfare, any of the agencies

         24  that deal with domestic violence, I'm not sure I

         25  know what the exact city agency is, that should also
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          2  be people who hand this thing out.  After all,

          3  inherent in the suggestion that this comes straight

          4  out of the City Clerk's Office is a suggestion:

          5  Domestic violence is limited to people who are

          6  married.  So many domestic violence affects -- and

          7  as we know in our society, a lot of people live

          8  together and they're not married.  I don't see how

          9  -- I think this bill could be improved by directing

         10  it to agencies that address those persons as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         12  much.  That was a very positive and enlightening

         13  response.  I think it does offer some good ideas for

         14  improvement.  Would you clarify how you handle voter

         15  registration applications.

         16                 MR. SINMOEI: Yes, the problem, and I

         17  guess this is a good place as any to raise this

         18  thing up, is that we're very happy to educate the

         19  public and give pamphlets out and so on. Except it

         20  always winds up being a nightmare, a maintenance

         21  thing, and as a city agency we always have to be

         22  concerned about who is going to clean the stuff up

         23  after we hand it out.  It's a nice way of saying a

         24  lot of this stuff winds up on the floor.

         25                 So typically what we've done is that
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          2  we give it to certain persons.  I think, and correct

          3  me if I'm wrong in this, I think what we presently

          4  do is when someone comes in for a marriage

          5  application, we hand them both pamphlets.  What

          6  we're thinking about doing in facilitating this --

          7  and were this Intro to come into law we'd probably

          8  do -- is to provide some sort of a rack and just

          9  have them available right where the public can just

         10  pick them up at will.  I mean, that's still going to

         11  leave us with the maintenance problem but I guess

         12  it's a worthwhile goal, I mean, we'll live with

         13  that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That's a little

         15  impassive. That's a little, sort of, you know when

         16  you put them on a rack it's sort of not as a --

         17                 MR. SINMOEI: Well, it's just a

         18  thought.  We haven't done anything yet.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         20                 MR. SINMOEI: At present we're handing

         21  them out.

         22                 MR. McSWEENEY: If I may.  When we --

         23  what we do is our cashier provides the pamphlets

         24  with the receipt that they get for any transaction

         25  that we have and, you know, we're just trying to
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          2  figure out the best way to balance the need to hand

          3  out the information with the maintenance -- the

          4  realistic need to be able to maintain the office and

          5  not have to spend undue time picking up pamphlets

          6  that people just cast aside which we literally have

          7  to do all the time.  Because at the end of the day

          8  there'll be any number of pamphlets on the floor or

          9  in the hallway.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         11  Reed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         13  Council Member.  I understand the concern that the

         14  City Clerk's Office has and the question. I don't

         15  know if the issue is appropriateness at the time of

         16  joy and union, but I also think that the point that

         17  they've raised about this being, and I haven't had a

         18  chance to read the legislation thoroughly, but I

         19  would think that we'd want to try and hand out this

         20  information in as broad a manner as possible.  We

         21  have begun only just briefly to shine a light on the

         22  issue of domestic violence and the level of this

         23  problem.  But I think the point that was made by the

         24  office that this problem is broader and to single it

         25  out just at, that the only thing we're going to do
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          2  is to have literature at this juncture, which is to

          3  say when people are married or they have -- or they

          4  get their civil union -- thank you -- domestic

          5  partnership, I think is probably -- doesn't do

          6  service to what it is that we're actually trying to

          7  do, which is to disseminate information to people,

          8  make people aware.

          9                 So I would support the bill but I

         10  think we could broaden that out.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         12  Margarita Lopez, the sponsor of the bill, has

         13  arrived.  Do you want to make some remarks or have a

         14  question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to

         16  apologize for being late.  There's snow in my

         17  district.  It's being removed right now. It was

         18  impossible, almost, to get out there.  I just have

         19  to left (sic) my car halfway here and walk because

         20  it was not possible to get here.  I want to thank

         21  the Chairman of the Committee for bringing this bill

         22  to light.  I'm very pleased that we are discussing

         23  this issue right now and I would like, for one

         24  second, to explain to my collegues what is the

         25  intention behind this bill.
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          2                 I have been involved in the domestic

          3  violence issue for many years.  In the last four

          4  years we have seen a tremendous increase in domestic

          5  violence and killing people because (sic) domestic

          6  violence and this increase has been happening even

          7  when we have been able to bring down crime rates in

          8  any other area in the City that you can imagine.

          9  But we have not been able to do it on domestic

         10  violence and on rape.  Those are the two crimes and

         11  both of them are usually against women and against

         12  fragile people.

         13                 Then I have been looking into trying

         14  to figure out how could you bring resolution to the

         15  question of domestic violence, particularly when

         16  it's an issue that is beyond a crime committed

         17  against somebody else.  It's connected to family

         18  relationships.  It's connected to people

         19  establishing personal relationships with one

         20  another.  Relationships that are usually romantic

         21  kind of relationships in which people understand

         22  that they can behave with each other in ways that

         23  are unacceptable based on cultural patterns, beliefs

         24  that people have in the family setting where

         25  treating women in certain ways have been part of
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          2  society's understanding.

          3                 Then one of the things that I

          4  concluded was that, unless we begin educating people

          5  that this is unacceptable to our society, that it's

          6  okay if you come from some other place of the world

          7  and in their treating women in ways that are not

          8  acceptable here is your culture, that's fine and

          9  dandy.  In New York City, that is unacceptable and

         10  we need to stop it.  I believe that they have to

         11  begin with education.  I don't see any other way.  I

         12  don't see how we're going to stop this unless we

         13  disseminate clearly to people what it means,

         14  domestic violence, what is that?  Who engage on it?

         15  The majority of the cases of domestic violence are

         16  not two people that just met the other day.  The

         17  vast majority of them are based on long-time

         18  relationship or relationship that people have.

         19                 Then, I thought that one area where

         20  we can begin - know one area where we would be

         21  solely impacting - would be the area where people go

         22  for asking for licenses to get married. Because it's

         23  my belief that the license to get married is not a

         24  license to kill and it's not a license to harm

         25  people.
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          2                 We know that in the statistical

          3  information that we have out there that domestic

          4  violence happen more often between couples.  We know

          5  that happens between people who have a relationship.

          6  We know that it's connected to establishing romantic

          7  relationships with one and another.  We know a lot

          8  and we know that a destinating place for everyone

          9  who is in those categories is the place where they

         10  get married and they go for licenses to get married,

         11  to be authorized to do so.  Then, to me this bill

         12  begin in the right place which is the Office of the

         13  Clerk where people go to ask for the license to get

         14  married.  I don't see what is the problem for a

         15  person who requests a license and at the same time

         16  they request a license be given the information of

         17  what domestic violence is.  What are the signs?

         18  What look like somebody who engage in this kind of

         19  behavior - giving people profiles in that kind of a

         20  booklet.  Putting it together for the person to be

         21  aware, not only for the one who is getting married

         22  that may see that in the partner, but for the

         23  partner who may not understand that the behavior

         24  that it's engaging is unacceptable.  That it's

         25  something that that person should not be doing to
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          2  another person.  And on top of that, the information

          3  will provide to people telephones to call where they

          4  can get help.  It will provide to people places

          5  where they can call for help, counseling, and be

          6  connected to resolve these issues.  Then, for me

          7  it's the place to start.  If we can spread this in

          8  the other agencies where people go - hey, the

          9  better. It's no problem.  But nobody can deny to me

         10  that the place where people who have a relationship

         11  and is intimate with another person is the place

         12  where people go for the license to get married.  And

         13  the second place is the Health Department where

         14  people have to go to do some tests and certain

         15  things that they have to comply with the license to

         16  get married.

         17                 Therefore, I don't see why we cannot

         18  implement this in the Office of the Clerk, and if we

         19  can expand it from there to the Health Department,

         20  the better.  The better.  But not to have it in

         21  there because people throw it in the floor, because

         22  people don't read it - well, guess what?  It's time

         23  for us to insist that when people receive the

         24  package, that they should read it.  That it's

         25  important for them because it's about helping people
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          2  to be better and to be a better city for all of us

          3  should be to stop the domestic violence killings

          4  that we have been having in this City. In the last

          5  year alone, 61, was this year?  Something like that.

          6  61, I believe, this year alone.  Last year was 41.

          7  Then, when this is going to stop?  We need to begin

          8  stopping it.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes.  A pretty

         10  quick one.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 Yes, it would appear that your office

         12  is a pretty good first stop.  Awareness has, when it

         13  started in '94 in the federal government, when DOJ

         14  got involved, and then the Mayor's Office got

         15  involved in 2002, we have seen slight decreases.

         16  Hopefully, it's because of the public awareness and

         17  the educational portion of this.  So the more we can

         18  get across, as my collegue Margarita Lopez

         19  mentioned, we'd like to get it to all the agencies.

         20  We'd like to get it to all the people who are just

         21  living together too, if that was possible.

         22                 But public awareness is the issue to

         23  this, and we're not giving a pre-nup here.  Here you

         24  get married and look at this.  This is something

         25  that's been a very dangerous situation throughout

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  the world.  There's no doubt about it.  And it does

          3  affect every single group of people we know. It's

          4  not limited to any group whatsoever.

          5                 But, Mike and Patrick, we appreciate

          6  your concern with this.  Not that, we're not looking

          7  to hold anyone responsible for this.  We would like

          8  it as part of the package that it would would you

          9  please also read this and whatever it is, as well.

         10  By not put in their face, okay, before you say "I

         11  do", read this and swear that you read it.  But, as

         12  you mentioned latitude and we're listening to you as

         13  far as a degree of latitude.  How you would handle

         14  this situation.  But, thank you. I just wanted to

         15  put my feelings into this as well, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Do you want to

         17  respond?

         18                 MR. SINMOEI: Yeah, if I may.  Council

         19  Member Lopez, we just want to say to you that we do

         20  share your concern. Certainly, as I indicated

         21  before, we don't mind cleaning up the paper.  I just

         22  mentioned that.  That's not the problem.  The bill,

         23  the Intro, as it's laid out, specifically says that

         24  this should be given with the marriage certificate.

         25  It doesn't say -- I mean, frankly, I don't think I'd
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          2  be so strongly opposed to that idea if it said with

          3  the license.  But when you get the certificate,

          4  that's the ultimate proof.  We're not opposed to

          5  doing it.  We're just here to suggest better ways to

          6  do it.  And we certainly think it should be given

          7  other agencies, as well.  We have no opposition to

          8  doing it and I just want to make that clear.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         10                 Can I say something, Mr. Chairman?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I think that we

         13  need to work out this together.

         14                 MR. SINMOEI: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         16  that the logistic of how can be modified.  I am not

         17  opposed to that whatsoever.  But what I want to say,

         18  to clarify one point: I don't see anything, anything

         19  wrong with giving to somebody, at the moment that

         20  they get the certificate of marriage or domesticship

         21  partner, I don't see anything wrong in giving them

         22  the information.  Why?  Because two people who go

         23  there because they love each other, they should be

         24  mature enough to understand that this information is

         25  important to know and they should be mature enough
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          2  to know - this don't apply to me.  This don't apply

          3  to my wife or to my partner.  It does not apply to

          4  us.  But it's important for both of us to look at

          5  each other and know that this is important to know.

          6  If it by any chance happen to be that they get upset

          7  with each other and the tone of the conversation

          8  rise to punching each other, which happens plenty in

          9  couples, perhaps this will be the way in which we'll

         10  stop that from happening.  We know now that the most

         11  unlikely person to engage in domestic violence is

         12  the person who will be.  We know that now by all of

         13  the studies, the data that have been collected. We

         14  know that.  We know that situations that develop

         15  between couples create situations in which go out of

         16  hand, people hurt each other. They didn't intend to

         17  do that and then everybody regret.  Then why we

         18  cannot stop it before and, to me, you know how we

         19  respect holy matrimony?  By acknowledging the truth

         20  of where human beings are when they get together.

         21  They are sometime very much in love but not

         22  necessarily very much aware of the dymanics that are

         23  going to develop inside of the marriage and I hope

         24  that we will be a society that that's the case but

         25  it's not the case.  People get married and, for the
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          2  most part of the time, they are not ready for that.

          3  If it's happening, then let's do something about it

          4  to fix it once people get married.

          5                 That's my position in regard of

          6  giving it during the moment that they get the

          7  certificate of marriage or before.  I don't see

          8  anything wrong either way because the marriage,

          9  status of holiness, have nothing to do with us

         10  giving this information to people.  That doesn't

         11  change that and it doesn't take away the happiness

         12  of getting together.  If it does, then it's

         13  something wrong with the people who loose the

         14  happiness by being given this information to them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much. I want to thank the Clerk's Office for their

         17  participation and their positive response to the

         18  legislation.  I believe that there are some, there

         19  is room for further discussion in terms of how this

         20  can be effective.  Clearly there is a support from

         21  your office in terms of trying to address the

         22  problem and allowing your office to be available as

         23  it is suggested by the legislation.  And clearly,

         24  the idea of expanding it to other agencies is

         25  another positive idea that will be taken under
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          2  consideration as we move forward.

          3                 Again, I want to thank you for your

          4  participation, and please let the Clerk know that we

          5  are happy with your participation.

          6                 MR. MCSWEENEY:  We will.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          8                 Next we're going to hear from Mary

          9  Barber representing CONNECT. Now, there are two

         10  other potential witnesses. Laurel Eisner and

         11  Michelle Stewart.  Would you please join us at the

         12   -- Michelle Stewart represents VOW, Battered

         13  Women's Resource Center.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Hi.  Could you

         15  please raise your right hand?  Do you swear and

         16  affirm the testimony you are about to provide is the

         17  truth?

         18                 MARY BARBER:  Yes.

         19                 MICHELLE STEWART: Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         21                 MS. BARBER: Good morning.  My name is

         22  Mary Barber and I'm the Director of Operations for

         23  CONNECT.  CONNECT is dedicated to the prevention and

         24  elimination of family violence.  I am here today to

         25  voice our strong support for Int. No. 199.
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          2                 As you all know, domestic violence is

          3  a pervasive and insidious problem.  It's estimated

          4  that, each year, 6 million women are assaulted by a

          5  male partner and, of these, 1.8 million are severely

          6  assaulted.  Domestic violence is the single greatest

          7  cause of injury to women ages 15 to 44.

          8                 In 2003, the New York City Gay &

          9  Lesbian Antiviolence Project opened 423 new domestic

         10  violence cases, a 14 percent rise and served 501 new

         11  victims constituting a 16 percent increase in

         12  victims from 2002. In 2002, the NYPD responded to

         13  reports of over 220,000 domestic violence incidents.

         14  In 2001, the NYPD made nearly 24,000 family-related

         15  arrests.  Over 4,000 of these arrests were for

         16  violations of Orders of Protection.  Just to put it

         17  into a little bit of context.

         18                 And yet, despite these horrifying

         19  statistics, domestic violence remains largely behind

         20  closed doors.  It is complex, personal and

         21  frightening to victims, their children, family

         22  members and other bystanders.  In order to break the

         23  cycle of domestic violence, we must raise the level

         24  of community awareness and we must reach victims

         25  before the violence reaches crisis proportion.  Int.
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          2  No. 199 helps do both of those things.

          3                 Couples registering for marriage or

          4  domestic partnerships are at a significant point in

          5  their lives as intimate partners.  Most of us make

          6  assumptions about the joy and anticipation

          7  associated with the commitment of marriage and

          8  domestic partnership.  However, often the formal

          9  recognition of the relationship is a ticket for one

         10  partner to inflict abuse on the other.

         11                 In 1992, Alisa Del Tufo, co-executive

         12  director of CONNECT, conducted oral histories with

         13  45 battered women.  More than half of those women

         14  were hit for the first time on their wedding night.

         15  Int. No. 199 will insure that all couples will be

         16  made aware of the resources available for victims

         17  and the serious legal consequences for perpetrators.

         18                 In addition to being a great access

         19  point for reaching victims and potential victims,

         20  the distribution of domestic violence information at

         21  marriage and domestic partnership registration

         22  presents a unique opportunity to educate the larger

         23  community.

         24                 CONNECT learned through our community

         25  empowerment program research in three communities:
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          2  Central Brooklyn, the South Bronx and Elmhurst,

          3  Jackson Heights and Corona, Queens that most survey

          4  respondents said they would intervene if they

          5  encountered a domestic violence situation.  But when

          6  asked further what they would do, the same

          7  respondents said they did not know who to ask or

          8  where to go for information or help.

          9                 People receiving information through

         10  Int. No. 199's mandate might learn to recognize the

         11  signs of domestic violence and know the resources

         12  available to help someone they know or love.

         13  Information is the key to prevention.  The

         14  provisions of Int. No. 199 are simple and direct and

         15  will educate and inform thousands of New Yorkers

         16  about domestic violence.  The information will help

         17  victims and bystanders access the help they need to

         18  maintain safe families and peaceful communities.

         19                 One thing we do ask, however, is that

         20  domestic violence advocates be included with the

         21  Department of Social Services and representatives of

         22  each of the district attorneys' offices in the

         23  development of the materials.  We look forward to

         24  the passage of Int. No. 199 and its implementation

         25  and if I could just add quickly a couple of
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          2  responses to the City Clerk's testimony.  Also, we

          3  would be thrilled if materials were passed out

          4  through other agencies and other means.  And- but

          5  think this is a good starting point and an important

          6  one.  And also, to the idea of simply having a rack

          7  that people could be expected to take off the rack,

          8  we would not support that.  One important thing for

          9  the City Clerk's Office to realize also- if you do

         10  have a victim who already is in a situation where

         11  she might be being intimidated, she's not going to

         12  go take that off the rack.  It would present a

         13  danger for her.  So, it's important that another

         14  method, a more personal method be arrived at.  Thank

         15  you.

         16                 MS. STEWART: Good morning, Ladies,

         17  Gentlemen, Council members.  My name is Michelle

         18  Stewart and I am a member of the Voices of Woman

         19  Organizing Project known as VOW of the Battered

         20  Women Resource Center.  I am also a survivor of

         21  domestic violence.

         22                 Today I am here on behalf of VOW in

         23  support of the Int. No. 199.  We believe that this

         24  law would provide information that would create an

         25  avenue to provide people with an understanding of
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          2  what domestic violence is, what choices they may

          3  have, the places they can go should the need arise

          4  for help and numbers that would provide them with

          5  that help.

          6                 I wish this law was there in effect

          7  when I got married many years ago to a person who

          8  physically, mentally and psychologically and

          9  verbally abused me.  I then thought I had no

         10  options.  As a battered woman, I endured abuse

         11  because I did not know where to go or whom to ask

         12  for help.  As a result I continued to live in an

         13  unsafe environment.

         14                 Thank God, however, I am still alive

         15  today because my sister made it her business to find

         16  me the help that I needed. Had this information been

         17  available to me when I applied for the marriage

         18  license, I may not have endured as long as I did and

         19  this information may have helped me to reconsider

         20  getting married to a person who was already showing

         21  signs of control.  I ask you humbly, sir and madam,

         22  to reconsider this and think of this because your

         23  sister, your niece, your neighbor's life may be

         24  saved as a result of this.

         25                 Furthermore, we think that this law
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          2  is really important because it would send a message

          3  to potential batterers to make them aware that there

          4  will be consequences for any misconduct or abuse

          5  against their partners.  We hope the City Council

          6  will work to make sure that there really will be

          7  consequences for abusive behaviors.  That batterers

          8  will be held accountable for their actions.

          9                 In conclusion, we wish to applaud all

         10  of you Council Members for taking domestic violence

         11  seriously.  On behalf of VOW, again, I wish to thank

         12  the Council Members for listening to survivors like

         13  myself and recognizing the importance of survivors

         14  having a voice through an organization like VOW.  We

         15  look forward to continue working with you to end

         16  domestic violence.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you both

         18  very much for your testimony and Ms. Stewart, I want

         19  to especially commend you for turning your situation

         20  into a movement to make sure that others do not

         21  experience what you unfortunately had to experience.

         22  It's quite commendable.

         23                 Do either of you have additional

         24  thoughts in terms of other agencies that might be

         25  appropriate?
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          2                 MS. BARBER: Well, I think we would

          3  take the position that all agencies are appropriate.

          4                 One thing we know is that domestic

          5  violence is linked to almost any issue that you want

          6  to talk about and that it's present amongst

          7  everybody.  As Michelle was saying, sisters, you

          8  know, we're all connected in some ways. So we would

          9  support, actually, figuring out a way to provide

         10  information at all different kinds of levels that

         11  the City interacts with people.

         12                 MS. STEWART: I agree.  You know, that

         13  VOW is a medium through which I was able to get help

         14  and support and, you know, that we should just

         15  continue in our quest to do the best that we can and

         16  go beyond to make sure that this stops.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         18  Lopez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Over the years

         20  that I have been involved in the struggle to stop

         21  domestic violence, I learned two things.  One, that

         22  the person who hit the other usually didn't want to

         23  do it.  But based on their ignorance, cultural

         24  beliefs, they engage in the behavior.  Then we need

         25  to educate the one who hit.  I learned that and I
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          2  want comments from you in regard of that.

          3                 The second thing that we had learned,

          4  and this based on interviews that I have with

          5  survivors.  Many of the survivors went to get

          6  married forced to do so.  Not wanting to get married

          7  at the time that they were taken to the place and

          8  that they were basically intimidated into engage in

          9  that relationship.  Can you comment in this two

         10  things.

         11                 MS. STEWART: I would like to comment

         12  on the second. Because it affected me.  I remember

         13  when I did go to get married, I didn't want to and

         14  he basically stated that he had chosen me and I

         15  didn't have a choice.  At the time, I really thought

         16  I had no choice.  I, as an immigrant, I did not know

         17  where to go.  He threatened me.  He told me this is

         18  what I had to do and if I didn't do it, this is what

         19  would be the result.  I felt that, at the time of us

         20  going to apply for the certificate, if there was

         21  some medium, if there was just some ways for me to

         22  know that I can go there without him knowing.

         23  There's a number that I can call without him knowing

         24  that would help counsel me on what my rights are, on

         25  what choices I had, I believe I may not have been
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          2  victimized the way I was.

          3                 MS. BARBER: And if I could speak to

          4  the first point. I think it's important that we hold

          5  batterers accountable.  That's number one.  And

          6  then, yes, I think it's -- we think it's very

          7  important that men be pulled into this dialogue and

          8  not -- I mean, definitely the perpetrators obviously

          9  need to be held accountable. There does need to be

         10  education.

         11                 We also need to bring men into the

         12  dialogue about this issue.  This is not just a

         13  women's issue.  This is a community issue.  It

         14  impacts our families, our children, our

         15  neighborhoods. So there has to be a way to, yes,

         16  hold batterers accountable, educate them to change

         17  the behavior.  But I think part of the whole

         18  movement needs to be to include men in the

         19  discussion, in the conversation which is why this

         20  kind of education is so good. Because the issue

         21  remains largely underground in a lot of ways. It's a

         22  difficult issue.  People don't want to talk about

         23  it.  And it's hard.  But that's why giving

         24  information in such a public way, normalizing it

         25  almost, by just automatically handing it out in this
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          2  public way is, I think can be so beneficial to

          3  really stopping violence.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My last

          5  question to both of you.  Do you think that by us

          6  acknowledging that this is a reality of our society,

          7  that it's like a disease in our society, by us

          8  acknowledging that, do you think that that in any

          9  way, shape or form diminish, damage, insult, shadow,

         10  shatter at the institution of marriage and the happy

         11  feeling that people should have when they get

         12  married?

         13                 MS. STEWART: No.

         14                 MS. BARBER: No.

         15                 MS. STEWART: Not at all.  Not at all.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It is your

         17  belief that that's not the case.

         18                 MS. STEWART: That's not the case.

         19  It's my belief that it's not the case.

         20                 MS. BARBER: No. I agree completely

         21  and I would support what you said about, if the

         22  relationship is strong and ready to go into marriage

         23  then this won't, this won't mean anything negative.

         24                 MS. STEWART: It's almost like a

         25  pre-nuptial.  You know.  You go into this knowing
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          2  that this is what you want.  This is the choices

          3  that you have and you can use these choices if and

          4  when the choice arises.  If the need arises.  And

          5  that the partner knows that if he does that or if

          6  she does this to violate the other person's right,

          7  that you're saying going in: I understand there will

          8  be consequences for my actions; I understand that if

          9  something happens, I have an option I can go

         10  somewhere else to help, to get help.  And as a

         11  result, I believe on my own experience, I may not

         12  have gotten married if I had that option to the

         13  person that I did at the time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MS. BARBER: And again, just, you're

         17  also going to reach those people who maybe they're

         18  not in a violent situation but know somebody and now

         19  they will know who to go to, who to ask how to help,

         20  where to find a safety plan and that's also

         21  important.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you to

         23  both of you.

         24                 MS. BARBER: Thank you.

         25                 MS. STEWART: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Rosita Romero,

          3  would you please join the panel.  No don't leave

          4  yet.  Don't leave yet.  I just want to let her join

          5  the panel because I know that she was a little late.

          6  Okay, who was the other one?

          7                 Councilwoman Quinn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

          9  much Mr. Chair. I just wanted to kind of underscore

         10  the point that Mary raised about the rack idea.

         11  That may seem like a very logical and reasonable

         12  suggestion.  If this was a pamphlet about childhood

         13  immunization or -- though I always think it's better

         14  to put something in somebody's hand -- but if it was

         15  about something else, it might be a reasonable

         16  compromise.  Although it's always better to give it

         17  to the person.  But that said, I just want to

         18  underscore the point you raise that in this

         19  situation somebody, one of the people in the couple

         20  going to get it could literally put that person at

         21  risk, could be the trigger, could re-start things

         22  up. You know, it's just an untennable option as it

         23  relates to domestic violence.  I don't think that it

         24  was made in a way to be untennable, which is why I

         25  think it's important that we're having a dialogue
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          2  between government folks and advocates and survivors

          3  so we can take what might otherwise be a great, a

          4  good suggestion and put it in this context.  It

          5  would be important -- I don't know how the bill is

          6  envisioned but when you raised the issue about the

          7  rack, I think we need to make sure we actually give

          8  two pamphlets to both members of the couple so each

          9  person has their own.  Lest the batterer take it and

         10  the other one have to then go searching in the home

         11  to find it which could be a risky proposition as

         12  well. So, I just wanted to note both of those

         13  things.  Thank you all for your comments and input

         14  today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much.  I want to again express our appreciation for

         17  you being here.  For sharing your wonderful ideas

         18  about how this bill can be so effective in

         19  addressing domestic violence.  I again want to

         20  commend you for the movement that you've become a

         21  part of in light of the victimization.  Thank you so

         22  much.

         23                 Would this panel please now step

         24  aside and let this final panel come up.  Mireya

         25  Cruz.  Mireya, like rey, like the king. I am the
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          2  king Cruz.  Thank you so much for being with us.

          3  He'll swear you in and you'll get a chance to share

          4  your testimony.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Could you

          6  please raise your right hand.  Do you swear and

          7  affirm the testimony you are about to give is the

          8  truth?

          9                 MS. CRUZ: I do.

         10                 MS. ROMERO: I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please begin.

         13                 MS. ROMERO:  My name is Rosita

         14  Romero.  I am the Executive Director of the

         15  Dominican Women's Development Center.  We run a

         16  domestic violence program called Nuevo Amanecer, New

         17  Dawn, where we provide comprehensive services to

         18  victims of domestic violence.  We provide

         19  counseling, we provide support groups, advocacy,

         20  information of referrals and we have a 24-hours

         21  hotline. We are here in support of Int. No. 199 in

         22  favor.  The first thing that I would like to do is

         23  to congratulate the Council Members Lopez, Perkins,

         24  Baez, Barron, Clarke, Comrie, Gerson, Jackson,

         25  Martinez, Nelson, Quinn, Reyna, Sanders, Fidler,
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          2  Sears, Stewart, Gennaro, Gonzalez and Brewer for

          3  introducing this legislation.

          4                 This is something that is highly

          5  needed.  Something that will help to prevent a great

          6  deal of suffering, pain, health, money, and anguish

          7  to the City. This Intro I call it the nipping it at

          8  the butt.  This is something that will be very

          9  effective because it will help to- couples who are

         10  at this stage of getting married where they are

         11  still in the stage of love and illusion to become

         12  aware of the realities of marriage.  So, by

         13  providing information from the beginning, we can

         14  first of all make a lot of advances in the area of

         15  prevention. Actually dealing with it before it

         16  happens.  Although we are also aware of the fact

         17  that, in many instances, domestic violence begins

         18  during the dating stages that we begin to see the

         19  signs.  So this is an appropriate stage to

         20  intervene.  One of the things that it would be

         21  important is to give people the information in their

         22  hands to let them know that this should come with

         23  all the paperwork that needs to be filled out.  It

         24  should be handed out with the application, not just

         25  put on a bench so that they can take it if they
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          2  like.  It should not be a voluntary thing.  That's

          3  one thing that we will support and we are advocating

          4  for.

          5                 The second thing is that we really

          6  need to, this is a very preventive manner of

          7  addressing the issue of domestic violence.  We all

          8  know that in the City of New York, most of the

          9  crimes have declined but what we also know is that

         10  the lowest level of decline has happened in cases of

         11  domestic violence and homicide of murders against

         12  women.  So, what is happening is that men,

         13  particularly men, in the majority of the situation

         14  are bringing the violence home.  In many time, in

         15  many occassions, a license to marry becomes a

         16  license to kill.  A license to men who believe that

         17  in this patriarchal society, they own the woman as

         18  an object that they can mistreat and use as they

         19  please.  Therefore, for us its very important,

         20  that's why we're supporting this legislation.  It is

         21  something that is going to improve the ability of

         22  the City to make a responsible response to the

         23  problem of domestic violence. That's basically what

         24  I wanted to say.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Go right
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          2  ahead.

          3                 MS. CRUZ: My name is Mireya Cruz,

          4  also from the Dominican Women's Development Center.

          5  I am here today to support the legislation because

          6  taking action in the beginning is very important.

          7  This is a prevention issues.  Also, when the people

          8  going to get married, they need to have information.

          9  What is domestic violence?  Give in the hand, they

         10  know domestic violence this is a serious issues,

         11  divided family, divided in the community. This is a

         12  crime.

         13                 I am here because I'm -- as a Latina,

         14  Spanish-speaking, I know the difficult for the woman

         15  living violent relationship.  When she has to go to

         16  the system she don't understand, she can't speak the

         17  language.  I think this legislation is the best

         18  thing that could happen for women living violent

         19  relationship. Thank you for the people, be aware to

         20  domestic violence affecting not only the family,

         21  also the whole community, whole society and divided

         22  families.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you both

         24  very much for your testimony and, again, for being

         25  so instrumental in this very, very important
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          2  movement.

          3                 It seems as if there is a growing

          4  consensus amongst the witnesses, including the

          5  Clerk's Office, that this is a good preventative

          6  measure, a good step forward in addressing a very

          7  serious problem.  So, we want to thank you, Ms.

          8  Mireya Cruz and Rosita Romero.  Is there a question

          9  from Council Member Lopez?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just need to

         11  know if in your program you have encountered women

         12  that had notified to you that they engaged in

         13  getting married against their will and that they

         14  were taken not necessarily wanting to get married

         15  because they were afraid of the consequences if they

         16  did not.  I encountered that in my office.  I have a

         17  personal situation in my office that happened with

         18  one of the staff and I have seen this in my

         19  district.  Have you seen this in regard of

         20  immigrants, in particular, women who are afraid that

         21  they will loose their immigrant status if they

         22  refuse to get married, etc., etc., or do they know

         23  that the individual in question has been abusing

         24  them?

         25                 MS. CRUZ: The woman is afraid when,
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          2  if she take some action, if she decided doing

          3  something different, of course she's afraid.  I have

          4  a lot of cases, most of them to immigrant woman.

          5  She's afraid to not get the papers.  She's afraid

          6  not to, the people don't understand that happened.

          7  Yes, she's afraid to take an action about this.

          8                 MS. ROMERO: I wanted to mention also

          9  that, domestic violence is about power and control.

         10  There are many strategies that abusers can use with

         11  their spouses.

         12                 In the case of the immigrant women,

         13  like Mireya said, they can force them to get married

         14  and tell them if you don't get married we will

         15  denounce you to the IRS and you will be deported.

         16                 Other situations in which it can

         17  happen is when there is already violence, the man

         18  can actually tell them, if you don't marry me, I

         19  will kill you.  That I have heard Margarita.  And

         20  sometimes they promise that, if you marry me, I will

         21  not kill you, I will not beat you, I will change, I

         22  will stop.  All I want is to marry you.  It's the

         23  issue about control. It's having the woman do what

         24  they please.  So, we have seen that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You will said
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          2  that, again, will be very appropriate to give this

          3  information precisely in the office where people go

          4  for license to marriage, particularly.  I just want

          5  to make very clear that I respect the institution of

          6  marriage.  I have no issue with that.  But I also

          7  want to make very clear that this legislation is

          8  intended precisely to support, sustain and defend

          9  the institution of marriage for the reasons that

         10  should be defended.  We need to be open and be

         11  honest of what's going on with the question of

         12  people getting married and not knowing that they

         13  have a choice to be able to defend themselves,

         14  protect themselves and not being forced into this

         15  situation for lack of information.  That's the

         16  reason I'm asking you the question because some

         17  people have said, how could I suggest in the most

         18  happy moment of a couple to get married to give them

         19  this information, I believe is the moment to do it.

         20  Do you agree with that?

         21                 MS. ROMERO: Absolutely, it is the

         22  best time.  I believe also, not only in the

         23  institution of marriage and family, I believe in

         24  healthy marriages and healthy families.  Because a

         25  family where there is domestic violence or a
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          2  marriage where there is domestic violence is not a

          3  healthy family.  The society does not need that.  I

          4  believe that that is the right time because in the

          5  Latino culture, people believe that once you get

          6  married, you're supposed to get married for life.

          7  That's it.  If people and you are supposed to bear

          8  all things and if people are given the information

          9  in advance, they will have the information of where

         10  to go.  They will know where to go in case it

         11  happens.  And there should be clear information for

         12  men or women who batter, that domestic violence is

         13  the crime, that they will be persecuted, that this

         14  is against the law.  This is not longer a domestic

         15  dispute. It's no longer a private affair.  No one

         16  should tell us that it's not in our business because

         17  it is.  It is our business to have healthy families,

         18  to have healthy communities and to eliminate the

         19  problem of domestic violence from our comunity.

         20  It's the best time.  I couldn't think of any other.

         21  It's something that should also be brought up in the

         22  schools, in the churches, because it's something

         23  that could be a real problem.  It could be a

         24  reality. And we have to deal with it before it goes

         25  any further.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you both

          4  very much, again, for your testimony and for the

          5  work that you're doing on this issue.

          6                 It's been very, very helpful for us

          7  as we move forward to address what is clearly a

          8  crisis issue in our communities and in our families.

          9  Clearly, information is education and anything that

         10  we can do to inform and to educate and prevent the

         11  horror of domestic violence this Chairman of this

         12  particularly Committee is fully committed.

         13                 I want to, again, thank the Clerk's

         14  Office for their positive responses in general.  I

         15  look forward to further discussion with the sponsor

         16  of the legislation and the Clerk's Office who craft,

         17  further developed the legislation so that, at the

         18  appropriate time, we can have a second hearing and

         19  pass this legislation.  I think it will be a

         20  landmark piece of legislation that, more important

         21  than what it does, in terms of its actual

         22  implementation at the Clerk's Office or wherever,

         23  the most important thing is that it will send a

         24  signal to everyone.

         25                 Those who might be inclined to
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          2  perpetuate domestic violence, those who might be the

          3  victims of domestic violence and anyone else that we

          4  are very strong in making sure that we rid our

          5  society, rid our communities, rid out families of

          6  this problem. This Council will be, it will be a

          7  proud moment for this Council when we move in that

          8  direction.  So, thank you very much to the sponsor

          9  of the legislation and to everyone else for

         10  participating in this hearing.

         11                 This hearing is adjourned.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 11:35 a.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, INGRID SAEZ, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          INGRID SAEZ

                                                            51

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, INGRID SAEZ, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              INGRID SAEZ

         23

         24

         25

